
 
 

 
 
 
   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 New Horizons Charter School Society   



NEW HORIZONS CHARTER SCHOOL SOCIETY 

AGENDA 
Type of Meeting: Board                             Date: March 24, 2021  Page:1 of 2 
“TOWARDS NEW HORIZONS”              Is it in the best interest of our students?                   Does it support excellence? 
                  

 

Agendas for the School Year 2020-2021 

NEW HORIZONS CHARTER SCHOOL SOCIETY 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ MEETING 

MARCH 24, 2021 
 

AGENDA 
 
 

Vision: New Horizons School will enable gifted students to strive for excellence in a positive 
academic learning environment that fosters social and emotional support for each student. 

 
 

1. Call to Order D. Hanson 7:00 pm 
 

2. Statement of Territorial Acknowledgment D. Hanson 7:01 pm 
 

The Board of Directors of the New Horizons Charter School Society respectfully acknowledges 
that the land on which we meet is Treaty 6 territory, a traditional home, gathering place, and 
travelling route for diverse Indigenous Peoples, including Cree, Saulteaux, Blackfoot, Nakota, 
and Sioux, as well as the homeland of the Métis Nation. We recognize our responsibility as 
Treaty members and honour the heritage and gifts of the First Peoples of this land. 

 
 

3. Adoption of Agenda D. Hanson 7:02 pm 
 

4. Disclosure of Conflict of Interest D. Hanson 7:03 pm 
 

5. Approval of Minutes D. Hanson 7:04 pm 
5.1 February 17, 2021 – attachment 

 
6. Administration Reports  7:05 pm 

6.1 Principal’s Report T. Zarowny 
6.2 Superintendent’s Report – attachment D. Lindquist 

 
7. Board Reports  7:25 pm 

  
7.1 Board Chair’s Report D. Hanson 
7.2 Committee Reports D. Hanson 

 
8. New Business  7:45 pm 

8.1 Three-Year Capital Plan 2022/23-24/25 – attachment D. Lindquist 
  

9. Board Work Plan – attachment D. Hanson 8:15 pm 
 

10. The Association of Alberta Public Charter Schools D. Hanson 8:20 pm  



NEW HORIZONS CHARTER SCHOOL SOCIETY 

AGENDA 
Type of Meeting: Board                             Date: March 24, 2021  Page:2 of 2 
“TOWARDS NEW HORIZONS”              Is it in the best interest of our students?                   Does it support excellence? 
                  

 

Agendas for the School Year 2020-2021 

 
 

11. Receipt of Reports D. Hanson 8:30 pm 
 

12. Correspondence Sent        D. Hanson 8:40 pm 
   

13. Correspondence Received  D. Hanson 
 

13.1 EDC Charter School Handbook 
13.2 Requirements for School Authority Planning and Reporting 
13.3 Literacy Program to Address Covid-19 Learning Loss 

  
 

14. In Camera D. Hanson 8:45 pm 
 

15. New Business (cont’d.) D. Hanson 8:55 pm  
15.1 Matters Arising from In Camera Meeting  

 
16. Adjournment D. Hanson 9:00 pm 

 
 

Next Board Meeting – 7:00 p.m., Wednesday, April 21, 2021 



NEW HORIZONS CHARTER SCHOOL SOCIETY 
MINUTES 

Type of Meeting: Board Date: February 17, 2021 Initials: Chair              

Approved: DRAFT Recorded By: A. DeJong  Secretary               
____________________________________________________________________________ 

DRAFT     Page 1 
 

 
February 17, 2021, 7:00 p.m. 

 
Board Members Present at Call to Order:   

Dan Hanson 
CHAIR 

Vincent Tong 
SECRETARY-TREASURER 

Michelle Smith 
DIRECTOR 

Chris Burrows 
DIRECTOR 

  

   
Administration Present:  

Dean Lindquist 
SUPERINTENDENT 

Patti Dundas 
SECRETARY-TREASURER 

Ted Zarowny 
PRINCIPAL 

   
Members Present: 
Sarah Jane Lovgren Elizabeth Macve Shaun Guthrie 

 
1. Call to Order 

Chair Hanson called the virtual meeting to order at 7:04 p.m. and made opening 
remarks.  
 

2. Statement of Territorial Acknowledgment 
The Board of Directors of the New Horizons Charter School Society respectfully 
acknowledges that the land on which we meet is Treaty 6 territory, a traditional home, 
gathering place, and travelling route for diverse Indigenous Peoples, including Cree, 
Saulteaux, Blackfoot, Nakota, and Sioux, as well as the homeland of the Métis Nation. 
We recognize our responsibility as Treaty members and honour the heritage and gifts of 
the First Peoples of this land. 
 

3. Adoption of Agenda 
 

Motion 2021-02-17-01 Moved that the agenda for the Board Meeting of 
February 17, 2021 be adopted as presented.  
 
Moved:  Director Burrows  
Seconded:  Director Smith 
Carried 

 
 



NEW HORIZONS CHARTER SCHOOL SOCIETY 
MINUTES 

Type of Meeting: Board Date: February 17, 2021 Initials: Chair              

Approved: DRAFT Recorded By: A. DeJong  Secretary               
____________________________________________________________________________ 

DRAFT     Page 2 
 

4. Disclosure of Conflict of Interest:  
None 
 

5. Approval of Minutes 
 

5.1 Minutes of January 20, 2021 
 

Motion 2021-02-17-02 Moved that the Board Meeting minutes of January 20, 2021 
be approved as presented. 
 

Moved: Director Smith 
Seconded: Director Burrows 
Carried 

 
6. Administration Reports 

 
 6.1 Principal’s Report 

Principal Zarowny indicated that his report relates to an update on the Education 
Plan, included later in the agenda. 
 

Director Ukiwe joined the meeting. 
 

6.2 Superintendent’s Report 
Superintendent Lindquist that his report is included in the agenda package and in 
the interest of time can be read individually. Questions can be directed to 
Superintendent Lindquist. 
 

7. Board Reports 
 
 7.1 Board Chair’s Report 

Chair Hanson made welcoming remarks to attendees and asked for committee 
reports. 
 

7.2 Other Committee Reports 
 
Policy Committee 
No report. 
 
 
 



NEW HORIZONS CHARTER SCHOOL SOCIETY 
MINUTES 

Type of Meeting: Board Date: February 17, 2021 Initials: Chair              

Approved: DRAFT Recorded By: A. DeJong  Secretary               
____________________________________________________________________________ 

DRAFT     Page 3 
 

 
Survey Committee 
Director Burrows indicated that the stakeholder forum was well attended and 
quite successful. More information will be provided at a later date. 
 
Finance and Audit Committee 
No report.  
 
Public Relations 
Chair Hanson indicated that the committee will be meeting to continue discussion 
and development of the advocacy plan. 
 
Personnel 
Chair Hanson indicated that negotiation meetings with the ATA began on 
February 8, 2021.  
 

8. New Business 
 
 8.1 Progress Report on Education Plan 

Principal Zarowny provided a progress report on the Education Plan, included 
with the agenda package. He summarized the goals and outcomes included in 
the Education Plan along with the related strategies to meet those goals.  
 

8.2 Draft School Calendar for 2021-22 
Superintendent Lindquist spoke to a proposed change to the draft school 
calendar for 2021-22, previously approved in principle, as included in the agenda 
package. Discussion followed. 
 

Motion 2021-02-17-03 Moved that the Board approve the calendar with the 
proposed staff change to the calendar that was approved in 
principle at the January 20, 2021 Board meeting as the 
school year calendar for the 2021-22 school year. 
 

Moved: Director Burrows 
Seconded:  Secretary-Treasurer Tong 
Carried 

 
9. Board Work Plan 

The Board reviewed the Work Plan for 2020-21, as included the agenda package.  
 



NEW HORIZONS CHARTER SCHOOL SOCIETY 
MINUTES 

Type of Meeting: Board Date: February 17, 2021 Initials: Chair              

Approved: DRAFT Recorded By: A. DeJong  Secretary               
____________________________________________________________________________ 

DRAFT     Page 4 
 

 
 
10. The Association of Alberta Public Charter Schools (TAAPCS) 

Chair Hanson indicated that meetings between the Education Minister and charter 
schools have been scheduled for March 9 for the southern part of the province and 
March 22 for the northern part of the province. A separate meeting to discuss NHS 
needs will also be requested. 

 
11. Receipt of Reports 

 

Motion 2021-02-17-04 Moved that all reports be received as presented during the 
meeting.  
 

Moved: Director Ukiwe  
Seconded: Director Burrows  
Carried 

 
12. Correspondence Sent 

12.1 Letter to Minister of Education re: Modular Classrooms 
12.2 SLS Funding for TAAPCS Information to Government 
 

13.  Correspondence Received 
13.1  Minister of Education Bylaw Changes Approval 
13.2  New Education Deputy Minister email 

 
Chair Hanson invited guest attendees to make comments or ask questions. Brief discussion 
followed. 
 
14.  Motion to Move In Camera 
 

Motion 2021-02-17-05 Moved that the meeting move in camera at 7:46 p.m.  
 
Moved:  Director Burrows 
Seconded: Director Smith 
Carried 

 
 
 
 



NEW HORIZONS CHARTER SCHOOL SOCIETY 
MINUTES 

Type of Meeting: Board Date: February 17, 2021 Initials: Chair 

Approved: DRAFT Recorded By: A. DeJong Secretary 

____________________________________________________________________________ 

DRAFT Page 5 

Motion to Move Out of Camera: 

15. New Business (con’t)

15.1 Matters Arising from In Camera Meeting

16. Adjournment
Chair Hanson adjourned the meeting at 8:08 p.m.

Next Board Meeting: March 24, 2021 

Motion 2021-02-17-06 Moved that the meeting move out of camera at 8:04 p.m. 

Moved: Secretary-Treasurer Tong 
Seconded: Director Burrows 
Carried 

Motion 2021-02-17-07 Moved that the mutually agreed unpaid sick leave related 
to family illness for the following employees be extended to 
June 30, 2021: 

• Employee #0129

Moved:  Secretary Treasurer Tong 
Seconded:  Director Burrows 
Carried 

Motion 2021-02-17-08 Moved that the Board of Directors ratify the Collective 
Agreement as negotiated between the personnel 
committee and the ATA Local. 

Moved:   Director Burrows 
Seconded:  Secretary Treasurer Tong 
Carried 



Dean Lindquist 
Superintendent 

Phone: 780-416-2353 
Email: dlindquist@newhorizons.ca 

MEMORANDUM 

Date:  March 24, 2021 

To: Board of Directors 

From: Dean Lindquist - Superintendent 

Re: Superintendent’s Report 

COVID-19 Re-entry Plan Update 
The plan continues as established with regular monitoring. 

School Capital Projects 
Government announced approvals for school capital projects.  École Claudette-et-Denis-Tardif School was 
identified for replacement and expansion.  No further information has been provided as to timelines and 
location.  We will continue to work with the Greater North Central Francophone Education administration to 
understand timelines. 

We have not received any word about our request for two classroom modulars for the 2021-22 school year. 

Stakeholder Survey 
Principal Zarowny was planning to share the survey with Survey Committee Chair Chris Burrows, and was 
planning to discuss and share with Directors at the March Retreat. 

Charter School SLS Grant Review 
Alberta Education and The Association of Alberta Public Charter Schools (TAAPCS) have discussed charter 
school concerns regarding the differential rate for Specialized Learning Support (SLS) grant for charter 
schools in comparison to public, separate and francophone school authorities.  The Ministry is discussing 
hiring a third party for the review of charter school student files and Alberta Education data as it relates to 
the three SLS allocations (Multi-Disciplinary Supports, Jurisdiction Composition, Student Wellness) to 
determine if changes to the current SLS grant for charter schools is warranted. 

The review of disability incidence rates in individual charter schools as well as the collective TAAPCS group 
will be compared to disabilities incidence rates of public, separate and francophone school authorities. 

The plan is to examine up to 10 years of charter school and other public school data.  The plan would be to 
complete the review in November 2021. 

This may provide the funding that is needed to support our learners.  However, details have not been 
provided as to how the review will be conducted. 

Recommendations: 



It is recommended that the Board receive this report as information. 

Dean Lindquist 



 
 
 

Three Year Capital Plan 2022/23 to 2024/25 
 
Priority 1: 

The New Horizons Charter School Society requests the addition of two new modular classrooms, to 
be joined to the existing east modular wing of our school. Note that these two modular classrooms 
would be in addition to the modular classroom that New Horizons purchased and installed in the fall 
of the 2019-2020 school year. 

 
Rationale for Priority 1: 

• Past Enrolment and Expected Enrolment Trends 
o Since relocating to Sherwood Park after the 2014-15 school year, our school’s enrolment has 

grown each year. Our projections call for an average annual growth of 4% to 6% over the 
next three years (see Figure 1). Following this, our school’s growth should “level off,” as our 
plan to enrol two classes per grade from kindergarten through grade 9 will then be 
complete.  

 
Figure 1: Enrolment History, Projections, Trend at New Horizons School 

     as at March 10, 2021 
 

o The projected enrolment growth over the next three-year period is based on retaining 
current enrolment numbers in grades K through 8 (i.e. two classes per grade), while 
extending the two-class-per-grade model to grade 9 (i.e. adding a second grade 9 class in 
2021-22 school year, (see Figure 2). Over the years, we have experienced some attrition in 

210 220
250

274
317

352
390 407

433 451 451

0
50

100
150
200
250
300
350
400
450
500

2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22 2022-23 2023-24

New Horizons School
Enrolment History, Projections, Trend



the junior high grades, especially from grade 8 to grade 9. This pattern of attrition has been 
included in our projections. 

 
Class/Grade 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22 2022-23 2023-24 
Kindergarten 34 37 38 34 38 38 38 38 
Grade 1 44 39 44 44 42 43 40 40 
Grade 2 44 45 39 47 44 43 42 42 
Grade 3 29 45 46 42 46 43 44 44 
Grade 4 31 37 48 50 45 46 45 46 
Grade 5 24 39 40 48 47 48 48 47 
Grade 6 24 22 45 43 48 48 48 48 
Grade 7 16 25 19 40 38 48 50 48 
Grade 8 16 17 22 20 38 38 48 50 
Grade 9 12 11 12 22 21 38 48 48 
Total FTE Enrolment 257 298.5 334 373 397 428 432 432 
Total Head Count 274 317 353 390 416 447 451 451 

Figure 2: Enrolment History and Projection at New Horizons School as at March 10, 2021 
 

o The current utilization rate of our school is 118% (current as of 2021).  
 

• Capacity Requirements 
o The current total capacity of our school, as measured by Alberta Infrastructure’s formula, is 

361 students. Additional capacity is required to accommodate the current population and 
the anticipated growth as shown in Figures 1 and 2. 
 

• Program Needs 
o Our program currently enrols two classes per grade from grades K through 8 and one class 

per grade for grade 9. During the next year, our current K-8 enrolment will necessitate the 
addition of one class per grade for grade 9 (2021/22 school year), as the children advance 
through the grades. The purchase and installation of the two requested modular classrooms 
prior to the 2021/22 school year will address this need at the grade 8 and grade 9 levels. 
Currently, the second grade 8 class is situated in a temporary classroom in the Learning 
Commons and the second grade nine class will also be required to utilize the Learning 
Commons space as classroom space in 2021-22.  The additional classrooms, as contemplated 
in this Plan, will enable our school to maintain several key designated instructional spaces 
during a time of significant growth (e.g. Learning Commons, music classroom, stage for 
drama instruction, kitchen and adjacent classroom for instruction in food sciences).  
 

• Facility Condition 
o The facility is in excellent condition, having been fully modernized during the 2016-17 school 

year. The modernization included the demolition of fourteen obsolete portable classrooms 
and the installation of six new modular classrooms in their place. Since then, two additional 
modular classrooms have been added, yielding a total of eight modulars on the site at the 
present time. One of these two modular classrooms was purchased by the New Horizons 
Charter School Society.  As our reserves are committed to maintain the financial viability of 
our school, we can no longer purchase additional modular classrooms using board reserves. 



• Partnership with Greater North Central Francophone Education Region No. 2
o During the past six years, our school has accommodated the construction and ongoing

operation of École Claudette-et-Denis-Tardif (ÉCDT) on our school campus. This has been
done by sub-leasing land for the ÉCDT facility and by sharing spaces such as our gymnasium,
playing fields, play structure, and parking lot.

o The board appreciates that ÉCDT is receiving a new school which will provide NHS with
increased facility space in the future.

• Timing of Acquisition of New Classrooms
o Our school was awarded one new modular classroom on February 22, 2018 through the

Modular Classroom Program and had previous authorization for purchasing a second
modular classroom for 2019/20 using Board Capital Reserves.  We would appreciate the
Ministry’s allocation of two additional modular classrooms for this next school year as
installing two modular classrooms concurrently will be less disruptive to the operation of the
school, rather than installing one modular classroom in each of the next two years.  The
ongoing placement of one modular classroom per year places the school grounds in a state
of perpetual construction. With that in mind, we would request allocation of two classrooms
at once, so that disruption of school operation and disturbance of the grounds can be
minimized.

Priority 2: 
New Horizons High School:  The New Horizons Charter School Society requests that the Ministry 
approve expansion of New Horizons School to include a high school.  The New Horizons School is 
ready to expand to include high school programming in the 2022-23 school year with additional 
classroom capacity.  In the 2021-22 school year, there will be two classrooms of all Kindergarten 
through grade 9 classrooms.  The Board has received support from its student and parent community 
to include a high school that addresses the vision of enabling gifted students to strive for 
excellence in a positive academic learning environment that fosters social and emotional 
support for each student. 

Anticipating ÉCDT’s departure at the end of 2023-24, Figure 3 illustrates the projected enrollment 
of the high school for the period 2024/25 through 2027/28. 

Class/Grade 2024-25 2025-26 2026-27 2027-28 
Grade 10 40 40 40 40 
Grade 11 0 40 40 40 
Grade 12 0 0 40 40 
Total Head Count 40 80 120 120 

Figure 3: Four-Year High School Enrolment Projection at New Horizons School 

Although other options may exist, two options will be outlined here to provide an opportunity for 
the Board to discuss these options with the Ministry. 



Option 1: If we do not retain the modulars from ÉCDT, an additional 8 modular classrooms will be 
required over three years. 

This option requires the addition of modular classrooms in the following years: 
• 2023/24 school year - 3 modular classrooms

o Two classrooms for grade 10 students and one options space
• 2024/25 school year – 3 modular classrooms

o Two classrooms for grade 11 students and one options space
• 2025/26 school year – 2 modular classrooms

o Two classrooms for grade 12 students
The two modular classrooms designated for options would provide space for options courses for all 
students in New Horizons School.  Through using these two spaces for options, it would potentially 
free up some space in the existing Foods Lab and Music Room. 

This option may not be available to New Horizons School unless the space and modular currently 
occupied by ÉCDT are allocated to NHS.  With the current combined enrollments of two schools, 
there are no additional parking spaces available and this is how Strathcona County determines if 
there is physical space available to expand the school.   

Option 2: High School Campus (Stand Alone Campus) 
This option requires the Ministry identifying surplus school space that exists in Strathcona County or 
the east Edmonton area that enables New Horizons School to build its high school program.   

This option would address the immediate space needs for a high school programming required to 
deliver instruction to 120 high school students. 

If a second campus was opened for the New Horizons High School, the Board would determine if it 
was in the best interests of students to also locate grades 7 to 9 students or just grade 9 students 
with the grade 10 – 12 students.  This would provide for increased programming opportunities for 
students at the current campus. 

The Board is supportive of this option as it addresses the challenges outlined in Option 1 on the New 
Horizons School’s K-grade 9 campus. 

Option 3:  High School Campus (ECDT Space) 
Our understanding is that over the next three years, ECDT will be building their own campus.  As we 
are looking to begin our high school in the next few years, our intent will be to ask Alberta Education 
if we can take over the structure and land being sub-leased by ECDT and begin enrolling students for 
our high school.   

A small gymnasium would need to be added to make the space usable for a high school. 

This is the most acceptable option as proximity to the K-9 school for staff/parents would be ideal.  In 
addition, the transition from junior high to high school for our students would be seamless. 



Board Annual Work Plan – Approved September 23, 2020 

DRAFT Board Work Plan 2020-21 Page 1 of 2 

 

 
 

Board of Directors – Work Plan for 2020-21 
 

September   Adopt Board Work Plan for 2020-21  
  Set date for October Board meeting  
  Receive report on provincial achievement test results (closed meeting)  
  Re-entry Plan Update  
   
October  Complete Board Organizational Actions  
      - Conduct Special General Meeting; hold Board elections  
      - Elect Board executive officers (must be within one week of SGM)  
      - Select members for Board standing committees  
      - Set dates for Board meetings (motion required)  
      - Notify Service Alberta of change in executive officers  
      - Identify Board signing authorities  
      - Sign Board Member Code of Conduct – Policy #101  
  Receive Accountability Pillar Results Report for October 2020  
  Attend TAAPCS Annual General Meeting  
  Receive enrolment report for September 30, 2020  
  Conduct initial orientation session for new Board members  
  Submit request to Alberta Education for modular classrooms  
  Set date for NHCS Society Annual General Meeting  
  Create Task Force to investigate establishment of New Horizons High 

School Program (as per Education Plan)  

  Re-entry Plan Update  
   
November  Conduct AGM of NHCS Society  
  Approve final Three-Year Education Plan 2020-2021 to 2022-23  
  Approve revised budget for 2020-21  
  Approve Annual Education Results Report 2019-20  
  Approve Audited Financial Statement Year Ending Aug 31/20  
  Receive Report #1 from School Council  
  Determine priorities, possible date for Stakeholder Forum  
  Re-entry Plan Update  
   
December  Set date for March Board Planning Retreat  
  Receive Counsellor’s Report for 2019-20 School Year  
  Re-entry Plan Update  
   
January  Receive Quarterly Financial Report for Sep - Nov 2020  
  Review Policy 210 and associated Student Code of Conduct  
  Approve school calendar for 2021-22 in principle  
  Stakeholder Forum – Gather input on possible Education Plan priorities  
  Re-entry Plan Update  
   



Board Annual Work Plan – Approved September 23, 2020 

DRAFT Board Work Plan 2020-21 Page 2 of 2 

February  Provide final approval of school calendar for 2021-22  
  Prepare breakfast for school staff  
  Receive mid-year progress report on Three-Year Education Plan 2020-23  
   

 
March  Board Retreat – Identify priorities for upcoming Education Plan  
  Approve Three-Year Capital Plan for 2021-22 to 2023-24  
  Administer Board-developed Stakeholder Survey  
  Re-entry Plan Update  
   
April  Provide provisional approval to Education Plan 2020-21 to 2022-23  
  Receive Quarterly Financial Report for Dec 2020 – Feb 2021  
  Re-entry Plan Update  
   
May  Attend TAAPCS Spring General Meeting  
  Approve Budget for 2021-22  
  Receive Accountability Pillar Results Report for May 2021  
  Receive Board-developed stakeholder survey results  
  Consider salary adjustment for support staff, senior administration  
  Receive report from FANHS  
  Re-entry Plan Update  
   
June  Assess Board Work Plan progress for 2020-21  
  Receive Quarterly Financial Report for Mar – May 2021  
  Schedule SGM of NHCS Society (requires 21 days’ notice; must be on or 

before Oct 10)  
  Schedule September 2021 Board meeting  
  Set date for Summer Board Housekeeping Retreat  
  Receive Report #2 from School Council  
  Re-entry Plan Update  
   
Ongoing  Consider proposals for new or amended Board policies  
  Receive recommendations from Board committees  
   
Annually  Negotiate collective agreement with ATA (as needed)  
   
As Needed  Meet with:   
  - County Council  
  - MLAs  
   

 



Classification: Protected A 



2 Charter Schools Handbook | February 2021 

Alberta Education, Government of Alberta 

February 2021 

Charter Schools Handbook 

ISBN 978-1-4601-5040-5 

For more information, contact: 

Alberta Education 

Field Services 

9th Floor, 44 Capital Boulevard 

10044 – 108 Street NW 

Edmonton  Alberta  T5J 5E6 

Telephone: 780-427-6272 in Edmonton (toll-free by first dialing 310-0000) 

Email: EDC.FieldServices@gov.ab.ca 

Copyright ©2021, the Crown in Right of Alberta, as represented by the Minister of Education.  

For more information regarding this content visit: https://www.alberta.ca/charter-schools.aspx 

mailto:EDC.FieldServices@gov.ab.ca
https://www.alberta.ca/charter-schools.aspx


Charter Schools Handbook | February 2021 3 

Table of Contents 

Overview  ......................................................................................................................................... 4 

What is a Charter School?  .......................................................................................................... 4 

What is a Charter Board?  ........................................................................................................... 6 

Things to Consider Before Preparing an Application  .................................................................. 8 

Questions and Answers  .............................................................................................................. 10 

Eligibility  .................................................................................................................................... 10 

Goverance  ................................................................................................................................. 10 

Accountability  ............................................................................................................................ 11 

Programs  ................................................................................................................................... 12 

Students  .................................................................................................................................... 13 

Teachers  ................................................................................................................................... 13 

Grants  ....................................................................................................................................... 14 

Applications  ............................................................................................................................... 15 

Appendix A: Applying for Charter School Status  .................................................................... 16 

I. Steps to Follow ....................................................................................................................... 16 

II. Charter School Application Requirements  ............................................................................ 19 

III. Charter School Considerations  ............................................................................................ 24 

Appendix B: Parent Declaration to Enrol Children in Proposed Charter School  ................. 30 



4 Charter Schools Handbook | February 2021 

Overview 
Charter schools were established in Alberta through legislation in March 1994. 

This handbook is intended to assist Albertans in understanding charter schools in Alberta and to 

assist charter organizers with their planning and preparation for their charter school application 

and subsequent operations. 

What is a Charter School? 

A charter school is a public school that provides a basic education in a different or enhanced way 

to improve student learning and contributes to educational choice. 

The expectation for the educational services offered by charter schools is that they will be 

different from what is locally available. Charter schools must demonstrate the potential to improve 

student learning. In general, charter schools complement the educational services provided in the 

local public system. They represent an opportunity for successful educational practices to be 

recognized and adopted by other public schools for the benefit of more Albertans. Although types 

of charter schools vary across the province, they have the following characteristics. 

Access – Charter schools cannot deny access, if sufficient space and resources are available, to 

any students who meet the requirements of section 3 of the Education Act. Section 11(3) further 

outlines responsibilities to students in need of specialized supports and services. In other words, 

any student may attempt a program provided by a particular charter school. For more information, 

see “Selection” on page 7. 

Charter – A charter is an agreement between the Minister of Education and an individual or 

group regarding the establishment and administration of a charter school. The charter describes 

the unique educational service the school will provide, how the school will operate and the 

student outcomes that it intends to achieve. 

Choice – A charter school provides enhanced or innovative delivery of public education to 

students. This means that parents and students have increased opportunity to choose an 

education that best serves student needs. 

Curriculum – The programs of study (curriculum) delivered by charter schools is structured 

around a basic education as defined by Alberta Education and described in provincial curriculum 

in accordance with the Ministerial Order on Student Learning #028/2020 that focuses on literacy 

and numeracy. Generally, education programs must meet the conditions outlined in section 18 of 

the Education Act. This allows students to transfer to or from any public school with a minimum of 

disruption and to obtain a high school diploma. In addition, students attending charter schools 



Charter Schools Handbook | February 2021 5 

must write provincial assessments including provincial diploma exams and any other tests the 

Minister prescribes. 

Funding – Charter schools are eligible for provincial funding. For information on grant allocations, 

please refer to the Funding Manual for School Authorities for the current school year. 

Non-religious – Charter schools may not be affiliated with a religious faith or denomination. A 

charter school may provide religious instruction and exercises under section 58 of the Education 

Act, as may any other public school. Charter schools are not private religious schools, nor are 

they intended to replace the services offered by private religious schools. 

Purpose – Charter schools are expected to improve student learning by providing a different 

educational environment beyond the services provided by the existing local school board. Charter 

boards that operate schools have flexibility and considerable autonomy to implement innovative 

or enhanced educational services that broaden the range of educational opportunities and 

enhance student learning. Charter schools with a focus on vocation-based education may also be 

established to provide new and different educational opportunities in a community. Enhanced 

student learning means improved acquisition, in some measurable way, of knowledge, skills and 

attitudes. 

Research – Charter schools must have the potential to improve the education system as a whole 

and enhance education research and innovation. Charter schools are expected to demonstrate 

collaboration or engagement with a post-secondary institution or a school authority. The 

preliminary application to the Minister must include independent research supporting the 

proposed charter school program.  

Specialization – Charter schools specialize in a particular educational service or approach in 

order to address the needs of a particular group of students. Charter schools may complement or 

add to existing local programs where there is a sufficient number of students who could benefit 

from the program. 

Tuition Fees – Charter schools shall not charge tuition fees. However, they may charge parents 

of a student fees and costs, subject to section 26(5) of the Education Act, School Fees 

Regulation and School Transportation Regulation.  

Vocation-based education – The Minister may approve a charter where the focus is an 

apprenticeship program or an education program in a designated occupation within the meaning 

of section 1 of the Apprenticeship and Industry Training Act or a science, technology, engineering 

and mathematics (STEM) focused program. 



6 Charter Schools Handbook | February 2021 

What is a Charter Board? 

A charter board is a corporate body responsible for operating and governing one or more charter 

schools. All schools run by a single charter board are subject to the same charter and 

governance procedures. The rights and responsibilities of a charter board are listed below. 

Accountability – Each charter board is accountable for its charter school(s). A board is 

responsible for ensuring that the charter school complies with charter board procedures and the 

terms of the charter, as well as provincial legislation, regulation and policies. Section 17 of the 

Charter Schools Regulation authorizes the Minister to repeal a charter if these terms are not 

being met, after notifying the charter board of a significant issue and giving the charter board a 

reasonable period of time to satisfy the Minister’s concerns. 

A charter board is accountable to the students, parents, community and the Minister of Education. 

The Minister ensures that the charter school is operated according to its charter, and that it 

achieves the outcomes outlined in the charter as required by provincial legislation, regulation and 

policies. 

As with any school board, a charter board is publicly accountable for student achievement in the 

school. The charter board must make publicly available annual reports that describe how well 

students are accomplishing their educational goals, certain documents and reports under section 

65 of the Education Act, and any other information requested by the Minister (section 66 of the 

Education Act). 

As part of the charter renewal process, charter boards participate in an evaluation process 

described in sections 7 and 8 of the Charter Schools Regulation. The Minister must conduct at 

least one evaluation within the school’s current term. Typically, the department conducts a 

fulsome evaluation of the charter school in the third year of a five-year term and the twelfth year 

of a fifteen-year charter term in preparation for the charter school’s anticipated request for 

renewal of the charter.  

Autonomy – A charter board has the authority and autonomy to operate a charter school. The 

board develops governance procedures subject to its charter agreement with the Minister of 

Education. Typically, a charter board provides direction through the superintendent of the charter 

school. The school administration conducts the day-to-day operations. 

Financial Reporting – A charter board must appoint an independent auditor, establish an audit 

committee, and annually submit an Alberta Education Budget Report Form and an Audited 

Financial Statement. These must reflect the financial operation of the charter school. In addition, 

charter boards must operate within a balanced budget (sections 137 to 143 of the Education Act). 



Charter Schools Handbook | February 2021 7 

Governance – A charter school is operated by a corporate body in accordance with section 24(1) 

of the Education Act. The charter school may be governed by the board of directors of the 

corporate body, or the board may establish under it another body whose sole responsibility is the 

governance of the charter school. In either case, this governing body is called the charter board, 

and its membership should represent parents and teachers of students in the school as well as 

community members. In accordance with the provisions of the Societies Act or the Companies 

Act, the charter board must have by-laws and procedures for governance of the board as well as 

for governance of the charter school. 

Non-profit – Charter schools are non-profit schools operated by non-profit corporate entities. 

Renewal – Charter boards receive an initial term of five years. Boards may apply for an additional 

charter term of five years or 15 years by December 1 of the final year of their charter term. In 

order to receive approval for a 15-year term, boards must submit proof of meeting enhanced 

criteria described in section 8 of the Charter Schools Regulation (strong student achievement, 

strong indicators of continuous improvement, strong engagement initiatives, and innovative 

learning environments). 

Reviews – As part of the public education system, students of charter schools or their parents 

may ask the Minister to review any charter board decision about the expulsion of a student 

(section 43 of the Education Act). In addition, the Charter Schools Regulation allows for a review 

by the Minister if a student has been refused enrolment in a charter school. The disqualification of 

a charter board member under section 87 (except subsections 1(a) and (2) and section 88 of the 

Education Act) may also be reviewed by the Minister. 

Selection – Charter boards determine the student enrolment of each of its schools based on 

considerations that include resources, staffing and space in the context of the terms of its charter, 

while ensuring compliance with municipal zoning bylaws and all applicable municipal and 

provincial public health, fire, safety and building standards requirements.  

If student enrolment exceeds the capacity of a program, the school selects students in 

accordance with a selection process established by the charter board. The selection process may 

set priorities in such matters as attendance areas, access for siblings, and the order in which 

applications were received. The selection process must be open and fair. For more information, 

see “Reviews” on this page. 

Staffing – Charter boards are regulated by the Labour Relations Code, the Employment 

Standards Code and all professional quality standards. Teachers employed at charter schools 

must be certificated. Other staffing arrangements are subject to the decisions made by the 

charter board in compliance with the provisions of the charter and with provincial legislation, 

regulations and policies.  



8 Charter Schools Handbook | February 2021 

Things to Consider Before Preparing an Application 

Before applying for charter school status, prospective applicants should give careful thought to 

the following. 

 Why do we need a charter school?

 Is this educational program already available locally?

 Can the program be provided locally?

Individuals or groups, whether parents, teachers, or some other stakeholder group, must follow 

these steps in seeking approval to open a charter school. 

Applicants must consider if a program already exists as an entity within a local school board. 

The individual or group must be able to demonstrate that the charter program being requested 

focuses on a learning style, a teaching style, approach or philosophy or pedagogy that is not 

already being offered by the school board of the school division in which the charter school will be 

located. 

Before preparing the application, the charter organizers should consider the following. 

 Is there evidence of significant support from the community in which the school is to be

located, especially from local parents and students?

 Is there a body of independent research to support the assertion that the proposed

educational program will potentially improve student learning in a way that can be measured

against other schools not belonging to the same charter board?

 Is the proposed program innovative, in that it expands choice in the geographical area where

it will be established?

 Does the proposed program include collaboration or engagement with a post-secondary

institution or a school division?

 Does the proposed program incorporate vocation-based education programming?

If the answer to each of the above questions is yes, then charter organizers may apply directly to 

the Minister of Education for a school charter. The application must meet the criteria set forth in 

the Charter Schools Regulation. The Minister of Education reviews the application based on how 

well it furthers the province’s purposes for establishing a charter school, which are to: 



Charter Schools Handbook | February 2021 9 

 provide parents and students with greater opportunities for choice within the public education

system;

 provide increased opportunities for student learning within the public education system;

 stimulate the development of enhanced and innovative programs within the public education

system;

 provide teachers with a vehicle for establishing schools with enhanced and creative methods

of educational instruction, school structure and management; and

 encourage the establishment of outcome-based education programs.

For assistance with the application process, see Appendix A. 



10 Charter Schools Handbook | February 2021 

Questions and Answers 
Eligibility 

1. Who is eligible to apply for a charter to start a charter school?

Applicants can include parents, teachers and/or community members. Applicants must be

incorporated according to section 24(1) of the Education Act. This section states that a

charter school can be operated by a society incorporated under the Societies Act, or by a

company registered under Part 9 of the Companies Act.

Governance 

2. Why are statements about the philosophy, purpose and goals for each charter school

so important?

The philosophy, purpose and goals define a charter school’s reason for existence. These

statements show how the school meets an educational need that is not being met by the local

school board. The statements should be measurable, tied to improved student learning, and

should form the basis for educational decision-making.

3. What are the responsibilities of a charter board?

A charter board must understand the ways of selecting its members, the roles and

responsibilities of the members, the relationship between the charter board and the charter

school, and the school council’s roles and responsibilities. The charter board should be

guided by the philosophy or focus of the charter.

Other duties of a charter board include the development and implementation of a student

code of conduct, a policy for discipline, suspension and expulsion, personnel policies, and a

management operation plan. Section 14 of the Charter Schools Regulation sets out further

responsibilities of a charter board.

A charter may be repealed by the Minister of Education if it is determined that the charter

board is not meeting its charter or provincial commitments. The Minister’s decision is final.

4. Are charter schools required to have school councils?

Each charter school must establish a school council, as required by section 55 of the

Education Act. The majority of the school council membership must be parents of students

enrolled in the school. Students and teachers may also be represented on the school council.

The principal’s role on the school council is defined in section 55 of the Education Act.



Charter Schools Handbook | February 2021 11 

5. Does a charter school require a principal?

Section 202(2) of the Education Act states that a board shall assign a principal to each

school. Section 197 outlines the responsibilities of the principal. Both sections apply to

charter schools.

6. Must charter boards use the services of a school superintendent?

As per sections 222 and 224 of the Education Act, a charter board shall make provision for

acquiring the services of a person who is approved by the Minister of Education to serve as a

superintendent to fulfill those functions required by provincial legislation, regulations and

policies. For example, a recommendation for permanent certification of a teacher must be

made by a superintendent.

7. Must charter boards have a secretary-treasurer?

Section 68 of the Education Act requires that a secretary-treasurer be appointed and that

person must be bonded. The Minister of Education shall be notified of this appointment. This

does not have to be a full-time position.

8. How can a charter be amended?

A charter agreement must include a process to change the charter. It is important that

parents and teachers be consulted as part of the amending process. Any amendment

requires the approval of the Minister of Education before implementation.

9. Can a charter board sign contracts?

A charter board is a corporate body and may enter into contractual arrangements to comply

with the Education Act and meet the requirements of the charter. Before commencement, the

charter board must provide to the Minister of Education any contractual arrangements that it

plans to make, which may include: leasing arrangements, superintendency and

secretary-treasurer services.

Accountability 

10. Why charter boards are held accountable?

A charter board promises to improve student learning beyond the services provided by the

local school board. So that the charter school(s) may achieve this goal, the charter board is

provided with increased flexibility and autonomy. Consequently, this obligation must be

balanced with an accountability requirement to ensure that the charter board is achieving the

results that it has committed to.

The operation of a charter school is reviewed as outlined in the Education Act and the

Charter Schools Regulation.



12 Charter Schools Handbook | February 2021 

11. Do the accountability requirements of a charter board exceed those of a local school

board?

Charter boards must be accountable for their operation and results just as other public school

boards are accountable under the assurance framework outlined in the Funding Manual for

School Authorities. In addition, charter boards must demonstrate that implementation of the

charter goals has resulted in improved student learning outcomes and growth.

12. If a particular charter school has demonstrated success with its program, will

permanent charter status be awarded?

All charters are term-specific and renewable. Each renewal is determined largely by the

results of regular school evaluations. When a charter school continues to demonstrate

success and meets all the criteria identified in the Charter Schools Regulation, its charter

may be renewed upon request.

13. Can a charter board ask the local school board to take over the operation of a

successful charter school?

The charter board may decide to turn over the operation and governance of a successful

charter school to the local school board. Under these circumstances, the charter school

would be dissolved through the process outlined in the charter. It is expected that the local

school board would then adopt the successful educational practices of the charter school.

14. Must the charter school be housed in a particular type of facility?

The Education Act broadly defines a school as a structured learning environment through

which an education program is offered to students. However, there is an expectation that

whatever facility is used will support the philosophy and learning expectations of the school.

The school facility must also comply with provincial legislation and local by-laws regarding

health, safety, fire and zoning. A charter school may use all or part of an existing school, a

private or public facility, or any other suitable location. The charter board may own, lease or

rent its facility, subject to the Municipal Government Act which may restrict ownership of

buildings on reserve land.

Programs 

15. How will the Minister know if student achievement is meeting expectations?

Charter organizers are responsible for designing a student assessment model that will

accurately measure how well students are achieving learning expectations. The results and

data are shared with the Minister as part of the yearly assurance process and regular

evaluations conducted by the department.



Charter Schools Handbook | February 2021 13 

16. Since access cannot be denied to any student, must a charter address the needs of all

potential students, including those with special needs?

A charter school is intended to focus on a particular learning style, teaching style, approach

or philosophy or pedagogy that is not already offered by a school division. The chosen

learning style, teaching style, approach or philosophy or pedagogy may not be a perfect fit for

all potential students. A charter must include a description of the students that the school is

intended to serve. However, a charter school must make enrolment decisions in a manner

consistent with the Alberta Human Rights Act. This means, for example, that a charter school

cannot deny enrolment to a student who needs specialized supports and services solely on

that basis if the student is otherwise eligible for learning under that charter school’s particular

learning style, teaching style, approach or philosophy or pedagogy.

Charter schools do not have resident students under section 4 of the Education Act for whom

they are responsible for providing an education program. That said, charter schools do have

responsibilities to students enrolled in their school, including the obligation to provide a

continuum of supports and services to students that is consistent with the principles of

inclusive education, section 33(e) and specialized supports and services in accordance with

section 11(2)-(6) of the Education Act.

17. Can students with behavioural problems be denied access to a charter school?

Charter schools cannot engage in discriminatory behaviour that is contrary to the Alberta

Human Rights Act. The charter school must have a discipline policy, which is to be applied

equally to all students. Any student who is expelled from a charter school can request the

Minister to review this matter.

Students 

18. Is there a minimum student enrolment?

At school opening, the minimum student enrolment is set at 100 students, or another number

that, in the opinion of the Minister of Education, is high enough to ensure that the school is

financially and educationally viable. The financial and educational viability of a charter school

is paramount. Charter organizers must be aware that low student enrolment may result in a

deficit or may compromise student achievement. Charter boards must maintain a balanced

budget and are required to show that they are improving student learning.

Teachers 

19. Must charter schools employ certificated teachers (including principals) for

instructional purposes?



14 Charter Schools Handbook | February 2021 

All teachers offering instruction and the principal, must hold a certificate of qualification. In 

Alberta, all teachers including charter school teachers are expected to meet the Teaching 

Quality Standard throughout their careers. Principals are expected to meet the Leadership 

Quality Standards. 

20. Must teachers (including principals) be active members of The Alberta Teachers’

Association (ATA)?

Teachers employed by a charter board are not eligible to be active members of the ATA

under the Teaching Profession Act, but may choose to be associate members. If a charter

board chooses to engage the services of a teacher through a secondment with a school

board or employ a teacher who has taken a leave of absence from the school board, the

teacher remains an employee of the school board and is required to be an active member of

the ATA.

21. Must charter school teachers contribute to the Teachers’ Retirement Fund (TRF)?

Any teacher employed by a charter school must contribute to and will receive benefits from

the TRF. The TRF Act was amended in 1994 to include charter school teachers.

Grants 

22. What Alberta Education grant allocations are available to charter schools?

See the current Funding Manual for School Authorities, available on Alberta Education’s

website at https://open.alberta.ca/publications/1485-5542.

23. Will start-up grants be available to charter schools?

Funding is not available for start-up costs. However, Alberta Education may advance

payments taken from the projected charter school grant allotment for the year. This would be

a one-time advance.

24. Is the charter school eligible to raise funds in addition to provincial grants?

Charter schools are able to fundraise and accept donations, similar to public schools. Any

gifts, grants, donations, student or parent fees, charges for student or school services,

benefits, and any other assets the charter school may obtain in addition to provincial grants,

must be included in the charter school’s annual financial report.

25. Do provincial grants flow directly to the charter board?

Provincial grants flow directly to the charter board.

26. What happens to a surplus or deficit of the charter board when a charter school

ceases to operate?

https://open.alberta.ca/publications/1485-5542


Charter Schools Handbook | February 2021 15 

A balanced budget is required, so a deficit is not permitted. Any surplus that can be attributed 

to provincial funding will be returned to the provincial treasurer. 

27. Are charter board and school council members eligible to receive payment for their

services?

Members of the charter board and members of the charter school council are not eligible for

any honoraria, payments or benefits for any services provided. However, travel and

subsistence expenses may be paid.

Applications 

28. At what point in the application process must conditions stated in the Charter Schools

Regulation be met?

All criteria required by the Charter Schools Regulation must be completed before final

approval is granted. However, preliminary approval may be granted enabling charter

organizers to continue proceeding with the procurement and organization of facilities,

resources and services. The Charter Schools Regulation specifies the information that

charter organizers are required to provide to the Minister of Education before preliminary

approval may be granted.

It is important that charter organizers have a clear understanding of how their school will look

and operate and how it will demonstrate improved student learning.

29. Must charter schools provide transportation for their students?

As section 59 of the Education Act does not apply, charter boards are not required to provide

transportation. However, parents should be told whether the charter board has made

arrangements for transportation.

30. Must charter boards be insured?

Any charter board must, at a minimum, carry insurance in accordance with section 54(1) of

the Education Act. The secretary-treasurer must be bonded in accordance with section 68(c)

of the Education Act. The charter board also will be required to carry indemnification

insurance to cover any financial obligations that cannot be met. The Minister of Education

cannot be held liable for any unmet financial obligations of a charter board.



16 Charter Schools Handbook | February 2021 

Appendix A: Applying for Charter 
School Status 
I. Steps to Follow

A. Preliminary Planning

Prior to submitting an application, a person or a group of individuals should work on the charter 

school concept by: 

1. Deciding which learning style, teaching style, approach or philosophy or pedagogy should be

implemented in the proposed charter school.

2. If the charter school does not focus on vocation-based education, determine if the learning

style, teaching style, approach or philosophy or pedagogy is unique and is not already offered

by the local public or separate school board or francophone regional authority operating

within the geographic area in which the charter school will be located. Many vocational

education programs are highly regulated and thus may resemble vocational education

programs in the local school board.

3. If the purpose of the charter school is primarily a focus on vocation-based education, ensure

that it includes apprenticeship programs or education programs in designated occupations

within the meaning of section 1 of the Apprenticeship and Industry Training Act or a STEM-

focused program.

4. Reflecting on how the proposed charter school has the potential to improve student learning

outcomes.

5. Reflecting on opportunities for collaboration or engagement with a post-secondary institution

and/or a school division.

6. Reflecting on how the proposed charter school has the potential to provide improvements to

the education system as a whole.

7. Reflecting on how the proposed charter school may enhance education research and

innovation in Alberta.

B. Preliminary Application

Once charter organizers have decided to proceed with an application for charter status: 



Charter Schools Handbook | February 2021 17 

1. Charter organizers submit a preliminary charter school application in writing directly to the

Minister of Education no later than June 1 of the year preceding the year in which the charter

school is to open.

2. Charter organizers must follow the requirements detailed in the Charter Schools Regulation

when preparing their application (see “Charter School Application Requirements” on page

19.) A committee may be appointed to review the application and advise the Minister of its

recommendations.

C. Notification of a Charter Application

On receipt of a preliminary charter school application, the Minister of Education will notify

every board of a public or separate school division and francophone regional authority in the

geographic area of the proposed charter school, as well as operators of any other charter

school as determined by the Minister. This process allows school authorities an opportunity to

provide information or feedback to the Minister that can inform the Minister’s decision about

the proposed charter school’s preliminary or final application, including information about any

alternative programs that currently exist in the geographic area.

D. Minister Decision on a Preliminary Application

The Minister then has 60 calendar days to decide whether to request additional information,

approve the preliminary application as submitted, approve it with conditions, or reject it

stating the reasons for doing so. This decision will be final. The Minister must inform the

applicants within 15 calendar days of making a decision.

E. Final Application

After providing the Minister with additional information and addressing any of the conditions

outlined in the Minister’s letter of approval of a preliminary application, the charter applicants

must submit a final charter school application in writing no later than November 1 of the year

preceding the year in which the charter school is to open. Charter applicants must follow the

requirements detailed in the Charter Schools Regulation (see “Charter School Application

Requirements” on page 19). Applying on or before November 1 allows time for the Minister’s

decision and provides time for the applicant to complete the requirements of section 6 of the

Charter Schools Regulation prior to the commencement of the charter school operations.

F. Minister Decision on a Final Application

The Minister of Education has 60 calendar days to decide whether to request additional

information, approve the final application and charter as submitted, approve them with

conditions, or reject them stating the reasons for doing so. This decision will be final. The

Minister must inform the applicants within 15 calendar days of making a decision.



18 Charter Schools Handbook | February 2021 

G. Commencement of Operations

Before a charter school begins operations, the charter board must follow the requirements

detailed in the Charter Schools Regulation (see “Charter School Application Requirements”

on page 19.)



Charter Schools Handbook | February 2021 19 

II. Charter School Application Requirements

A potential charter school should ensure that application documentation sent to Alberta Education 

addresses the following points. 

 Charter applicants indicate their plans to gather data to ensure that performance

measurement will show clear evidence of success. Performance measurement will

demonstrate that outcomes have been successfully attained in:

– those unique aspects of philosophy, vision and purpose written as charter goals that set

the school apart from other schools;

– improved student learning; and

– goals required of all public schools in Alberta.

 The school will operate in a manner consistent with:

– all applicable provisions of the Education Act;

– current provincial programs of study (curriculum); and

– current Funding Manual for School Authorities.

 The school will be administered and governed effectively.

 The school will be viable and fiscally responsible.

 The school program will be successful in the eyes of the students, parents, school council,

staff, community, and Alberta Education.

 Other public schools in Alberta will have the opportunity to learn from the charter school's

innovative programming and techniques.

The information provided organizes the required documentation into stages for submission to the 

Minister of Education. This approach allows applicants to determine if the Minister will approve a 

proposed concept prior to undertaking the additional tasks identified in the final application stage. 

Applicants are asked to label one section of the final application as “The Charter.” Information to 

be included in that section of the final application is provided on page 22. 

After the Minister has given final approval to an application, some additional information, 

identified as Commencement Information, will be required near the time of school opening. 



20 Charter Schools Handbook | February 2021 

A. Preliminary Application – Required Information (section 3(3) of the Charter Schools

Regulation)

Deadline – June 1 of the calendar year prior to proposed school opening

The following are required as part of the preliminary application:

 Request in writing to the Minister of Education for approval for the new charter school.

 Name, address, telephone number and, if available, fax number and email address of the

applicant.

 The proposed name of the charter school.

 The particular teaching philosophy, vision and purpose of the charter school.

 If applicable, vocation-based charter schools indicate their intention to focus on

apprenticeship programs or education programs in designated occupations within the

meaning of section 1 of the Apprenticeship and Industry Training Act or a STEM-focused

program.

 Goals of the charter school written as measurable outcomes.

 Description of the improved student learning outcomes to be attained by students.

 Statement explaining how the program to be offered by the charter school is significantly

different from the programs offered by the local school board (except for apprenticeship

programs in vocation-based education programs that must adhere to specified expectations).

 Description of the students for whom the school is intended.

 Independent research supporting the proposed charter school program.

 Proposed opening date for the charter school.

 A parent declaration, in the form prescribed by the Minister, signed by parents, indicating

their intention to enrol their children in the charter school (minimum 100 students).

 Projected student enrolment, grade distribution and school building requirements on the

proposed opening date of the charter school.

B. Final Application – Required Information (section 3(8) of the Charter Schools

Regulation)

Deadline – November 1 of the calendar year prior to the proposed school opening.

The following are required as part of the final application:



Charter Schools Handbook | February 2021 21 

 Application in writing to the Minister of Education for approval for the new charter school.

 Proof that the applicant is a society incorporated under the Societies Act or a company

registered under Part 9 of the Companies Act.

 Proposed charter for the school (see page 22).

 Measures to be used to determine the outcomes referred to in sections 25 (1)(a), (b) and (d)

of the Education Act.

– Measures from the charter goals that will assess the effectiveness of a different learning

style, teaching style, approach or philosophy.

– Measures that will assess improved student learning outcomes.

– Measures that will assess provincial goals.

 Indications of significant community support for the charter school.

 Selection criteria to be used if enrolment applications by students exceed the maximum

student capacity of the school.

 Policy development plan.

 Charter school budget report in the form prescribed by the Minister.

 Programs of study (curriculum) to be offered in addition to the Alberta provincial curriculum,

and particular innovative teaching strategies and methods to be used to promote increased

student learning.

 Description of the process by which successful charter school innovations will be

communicated to the education community.

 Roles and responsibilities of the charter board and the parents.

 Projected student enrolment, grade distribution and school building requirements at the end

of the initial term of the charter.

Note: Applicants may choose to submit all the information contained in the preliminary and final 

applications at one time no later than November 1 of the year preceding the year in which 

the charter school is to open. 



22 Charter Schools Handbook | February 2021 

C. The Charter – Required Contents (section 4 of the Charter Schools Regulation)

The Minister of Education must approve any amendment to the charter. The charter should

be packaged as an identifiable component of the final application and contain the following

elements:

 Particular teaching philosophy, vision and purpose of the school.

 Vocation-based charter schools identify the elements of their programming that align with the

definition found in section 1 of the Charter Schools Regulation, apprenticeship program or an

education program in a designated occupation within the meaning of section 1 of the

Apprenticeship and Industry Training Act or a STEM-focused program.

 Goals of the charter school written as measurable outcomes.

 Description of the improved student learning outcomes to be attained by each student.

 Period during which the school is to operate.

 Name of the society or company that is to operate the school.

 Description of the students for whom the school is intended.

 Grade levels to be offered at the school.

 Curriculum to be offered by the charter school that is in addition to the Alberta provincial

programs of study (curriculum).

 Description of the process by which successful charter school innovations will be

communicated to the education community.

 Description of the type of collaboration or engagement the charter school will have with a

post-secondary institution or a school division.

 Roles and responsibilities of the charter board and the parents.

 By-laws or articles of association of the charter board.

 Projected student enrolment, grade distribution and school building requirements from the

beginning to the end of the initial term of the charter.

 Description of the process by which the charter may be amended.

 Description of the process by which the charter school may be dissolved, including:

– the form of notice of dissolution to be given by the charter board to parents and other

interested persons or groups;



Charter Schools Handbook | February 2021 23 

– the transfer of students to other schools; and

– the disposition of real and personal property and financial, school and student records.

D. Commencement Information

Deadline – June 30 in the year the charter school opens.

The following are required prior to commencement:

 Proof that the school will have at least 100 students enrolled in it.

 Name of the superintendent appointed in accordance with section 222 of the Education Act.

 Name of the secretary-treasurer appointed in accordance with section 68 of the Education

Act.

 Plans to ensure that parents of students enrolled or seeking enrolment in the charter school

are aware of transportation arrangements.

 Names and certificate numbers of the individuals who will be teachers at the charter school,

including the principal.

 Location of the school building.

 If the school building is leased from the private sector, proof of compliance with municipal

zoning by-laws and all applicable municipal and provincial public health, fire, safety and

building standards requirements.

 Updated school budget report in the form prescribed by the Minister.

 Details of any contractual arrangements to be made between the charter board and the

Minister, a board, or any other person.



24 Charter Schools Handbook | February 2021 

III. Charter School Considerations

The following questions are included to guide charter school organizers in providing a detailed 

description of their school. Applicants may include additional information to give the Minister a 

better understanding of the philosophy and purpose of the proposed charter school and to assist 

him in making his decision. 

1. Charter School Facility

a. What is the expected student enrolment on school opening?

b. What is the maximum student enrolment capacity in five years?

c. What is the desired date of school opening?

d. What are the projected grade levels of students at opening and in five years?

e. Describe the proposed facility in as much detail as possible. What are the specific

requirements? Where should it be located? Does the facility support instruction and

learning for the Alberta provincial programs of study (curriculum)?

f. Have you read Alberta Education’s Capital School Manual for further information about

facilities?

2. Evidence of Support

a. What community backing exists for the proposed charter school (your answer may

include evidence of tangible support from teachers, parents, students, community leaders

and others).

b. What supporting evidence is included to support the projected enrolment and parent

commitment?

3. Funding

a. Does the Budget Report Form clearly identify all revenues and disposition of any gifts,

grants, donations, student or parent fees, student or school services, benefits or any

other assets the charter school may obtain in addition to provincial grants?

b. Does the Budget Report Form reflect a balanced budget?

c. What funding provisions have been made for charter school start-up?

d. Has the charter board made financial arrangements with financial institutions for

emergency funding?

4. School Operations (if known at time of application)

a. Is there a description of the school operation in terms of the following?

 School opening and closing date.

 Number and days of school operation.



Charter Schools Handbook | February 2021 25 

 Length of the school day.

 Number and length of recesses.

 Number of daily hours of instruction.

 Number of yearly hours of instruction (refer to Guide to Education for required hours

of instruction for different grade levels).

b. Is a school timetable prepared?

c. What is the expected student enrolment in each grade level?

5. Brochures (if available at time of application)

a. Have brochures been developed to help the public become familiar with the following?

 Purpose and philosophy of the school.

 Educational services provided.

 School operation.

 Expected student deportment.

 Student supplies, fees and costs.

 School staff and governance.

 Other information.

6. Charter School Name

a. Is the name of the school stated?

7. Philosophy, Vision, Purpose and Goals

a. What is the philosophy of the proposed charter school?

b. Will the philosophy, vision and purpose of the school serve as reliable guidelines for

decision-making?

c. Are the goals stated in measurable terms?

d. How will student learning outcomes improve?

e. How do the goals of the school relate to Alberta’s provincial programs of study

(curriculum)?

f. How do the goals of the school relate to the sections of the Education Act applicable to

charter schools, including the preamble?

g. How do the goals of the school relate to the goals set out by the Minister?

8. Educational Plan

a. What grade levels will be offered at the school?

b. What educational need will the charter school fulfill?



26 Charter Schools Handbook | February 2021 

c. How will the charter school address this need?

d. How is the educational service provided by the school enhanced, innovative or different

from services already available in local schools?

e. Is there a detailed description of the improved student learning outcomes to be attained

by the students?

f. Is there independent research to show the benefits of the educational plan?

g. How will the school provide a continuum of supports and services to students that is

consistent with the principles of inclusive education?

9. Demographics of the Charter School

a. Does the charter provide a detailed description of the students who the charter school is

intended to serve?

b. What is the proposed student registration policy?

c. What is the attendance area of the charter school?

d. Are student selection criteria outlined in the event student enrolment exceeds the

maximum capacity of the school?

e. Are student selection criteria aligned with the charter? Are student selection criteria

transparent and non-discriminatory?

10. Governance

a. What is the name of the society or company that will operate the school?

b. Do the by-laws describe the criteria that will be used for eligibility and selection of charter

board directors?

c. Are the relationships between the corporate body, the charter board of directors, school

administration, teachers, students, parents and school council clearly outlined?

d. Are the roles and responsibilities of each of these groups clearly outlined?

e. Has an appeal process been established for each group in the event of a dispute over a

decision?

f. Do employment procedures clearly address employment contracts including salaries,

benefits, termination, professional development, and grievance and appeals?

g. Are the governance matters structured in policy (i.e. segregation of duties, financial

controls, related party transactions and conflict of interest, etc.)?

h. Do board and school policies align with responsibilities described in section 33 of the

Education Act?

i. Have evaluation policies been developed?



Charter Schools Handbook | February 2021 27 

11. Contractual Arrangements

a. Are there any contractual arrangements the charter board will or may be making? For

example, have contracts been provided for:

 staff employment;

 facilities and resources;

 student transportation;

 custodial services, maintenance and repair;

 personnel services such as superintendency, secretary-treasurer, administrative

support, consultant; and

 acquiring instructional resources.

b. Has a policy been structured to guide the charter board when it enters into contracts and

contract renewals?

c. What financial provisions have been made in accordance with the Charter Schools

Regulation, in case the charter school defaults on any of its contracts and the charter

board is left with outstanding financial obligations?

12. Additional Revenue

a. Is there a description of all revenues the charter board expects to receive in addition to

provincial grants?

b. Is there a designation for these funds? How will they be used?

13. Transportation

a. What provisions, if any, has the charter school made for student transportation?

14. Amending the Charter

a. Is there a description of matters that may initiate the amending process?

b. What role do various stakeholders have in the amending process?

c. Is a timeline for decision-making included in the process?

15. Dissolution Process

a. Does the charter outline the charter school’s dissolution process?

b. In case the dissolution process is initiated by the charter board, does the charter provide

sufficient advance notice of intent so that parents and students are able to make the

adjustment with minimal disruption to student education?

c. Does the charter require that a public meeting be held in advance of the dissolution

process to inform the community of the charter board’s intentions?

d. Is there a detailed plan for the disposition of property and finances?



28 Charter Schools Handbook | February 2021 

e. Is there a plan for the transfer of students to other schools and for the disposition of

student records?

16. Term of Charter

a. Does the charter stipulate the date it comes into effect and the expiry date for the initial

term?

b. Does the charter outline the process and timelines for charter renewal?

c. Has the charter board developed an annual school evaluation process to assist with

charter renewal?

17. Student Code of Conduct and Expectations

a. Is there a set of rules for discipline, attendance, suspension and expulsion? Do these

align with sections 7, 8, 9, 31, 33(2), 33(3), 35.1, 36, 37 of the Education Act?

b. Is there an outline of the dispute resolution process and the appeal process to be used

under sections 41 and 42 of the Education Act?

c. Has a handbook been developed that outlines student information and procedures,

expectations of students, student conduct, matters of student discipline process and

appeal procedures?

d. Does the handbook specify all student fees, the purpose of these fees, and the resources

that students are expected to provide?

e. Are student extra-curricular activities outlined?



Charter Schools Handbook | February 2021 29 

Appendix B: Parent Declaration to 
Enrol Children in Proposed Charter 
School 



30 Charter Schools Handbook | February 2021 

PARENT DECLARATION 

TO ENROL CHILDREN IN PROPOSED CHARTER SCHOOL 

Charter Schools Regulation, AR 85/2019, Section 3(3)(h) 

Each of the undersigned declares that: 

1. he or she is the parent/guardian of the named child/children who is/are eligible to attend
the proposed charter school on opening; and

2. he or she intends to enroll his or her child/children at the proposed charter school if it is
approved by the Minister.

Name of Proposed Charter School 

# 
NAME of 

PARENT/GUARDIAN 
Please Print 

TELEPHONE 
NUMBER 

CHILDREN THAT WOULD ATTEND 
SIGNATURE OF 

PARENT/GUARDIAN 

NAME(s) AGE GRADE 

I/We, the applicant(s) wishing to establish the above charter school, certify that the 
above parents/guardians signed the declaration. 

Charter School Applicant – Signature Charter School Applicant – Signature 

Name – Please Print Name – Please Print 

Dated the   day of  , 20 

If required, continue on additional form. 

The personal information collected on this form is collected pursuant to the provisions of the Charter Schools Regulation,  

AR 85/2019 and will be used for the purposes of reviewing the preliminary charter school application as submitted by the 

applicants. This information will be treated in accordance with the Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act, 

RSA 2000, Chapter F-25. Should you have any questions about this collection, please contact Alberta Education, Field 

Services, 9th Floor, 44 Capital Boulevard, 10044 – 108 Street NW, Edmonton  Alberta  T5J 5E6. Telephone: 780-427-6273 

in Edmonton (toll-free by first dialing 310-0000). Email: EDC.FieldServices@gov.ab.ca 

mailto:EDC.FieldServices@gov.ab.ca


3/16/2021 New Horizons School Mail - Budget 2021

https://mail.google.com/mail/u/0?ik=bd9f062b9a&view=pt&search=all&permmsgid=msg-f%3A1692709145491363232&simpl=msg-f%3A16927091454… 1/4

Dean Lindquist <dlindquist@newhorizons.ca>

Budget 2021 

EDC Deputy Minister <EducationDeputyMinister@gov.ab.ca> Thu, Feb 25, 2021 at 3:47 PM

To:  Superintendents of Public, Separate, Francophone and Charter School Boards

 

Earlier today, the Honourable Adriana LaGrange, Minister of Education, provided school board chairs with an update
regarding Budget 2021. I am pleased to provide you with additional information.

 

Overview of Budget 2021

                                                           

We are maintaining education spending at $8.3 billion in operating expense. This is an important promise we made to
Albertans. Our commitment to stable and predictable education funding is why we introduced the new Kindergarten to
Grade 12 funding model in 2020. Alberta still has one of the best-funded education systems in Canada, and our goal
continues to be to drive as many dollars as possible to the classroom and away from administrative costs.

 

Our government is also protecting its investment and planning for the future by maintaining and enhancing our existing
school infrastructure and building new schools. Budget 2021 includes $1 billion in capital investment for Alberta Education
to continue its commitment to fund school infrastructure.

 

COVID-19 Mitigation Funding

 

The 2020/21 school year introduced the new Funding and Assurance Model, which uses the weighted moving average
(WMA) to smooth funding when there are fluctuations in enrolment. The predictability of the funding using the WMA
approach has provided the needed stability during the COVID-19 pandemic. In Budget 2021, over $130 million in
provincial COVID mitigation funding will allow school authorities to prioritize educational programming and address their
COVID-19-related expenses.

 

Learning Support Funding

 

Alberta Education will continue to examine the funding under the Learning Support Funding grants in order to ensure that
our most vulnerable students and children are supported. Budget 2021 will provide an additional $40 million to the
Learning Support Funding envelope. The Learning Support Funding grants support specialized learning needs or groups
of students who may require additional supports from school authorities. This includes funding for:

Specialized Learning Support Grant;
Program Unit Funding;
English as a Second Language and Francisation;
Refugee Student Grant;
First Nations, Métis and Inuit Grant;
Socio-Economic Status Grant;
Geographic Grant; and
School Nutrition Grant.



3/16/2021 New Horizons School Mail - Budget 2021

https://mail.google.com/mail/u/0?ik=bd9f062b9a&view=pt&search=all&permmsgid=msg-f%3A1692709145491363232&simpl=msg-f%3A16927091454… 2/4

 

More information will be provided in the coming weeks on the corresponding changes to the funding manual.

 

Transportation

 

Through Budget 2021, we are providing school authorities with $310 million for student transportation. We continue to
work with our education partners to address concerns around transportation and will share more details in the coming
weeks about our plans to make the student transportation system more efficient and cost effective. These plans are
based on the findings of the MLA-led Student Transportation Task Force, which provided their report to the Minister late
last year.

 

Operations and Maintenance and Capital Maintenance and Renewal

 

In Budget 2021, we are investing $651 million in the Operations and Maintenance Grant to support the day-to-day upkeep
of school facilities. We are also investing $103 million in the Capital Maintenance and Renewal (CMR) program. This
funding supports capital maintenance and renewal of existing school facilities to ensure healthy and safe learning
environments for students.

 

In the midst of the pandemic in 2020, we provided school divisions with $250 million in CMR
stimulus funding to accelerate hundreds of much-needed upgrades to schools and created
thousands of jobs. The program was structured as an accelerated program, which brought forward
dollars from future years so they could be spent now when they are needed the most.

 

Curriculum Implementation

 

Starting in 2021, government and education partners will implement the largest curriculum renewal
project in Alberta’s history. Renewing the provincial curriculum involves drafting and classroom
validation prior to the province-wide implementation. The new Ministerial Order on Student
Learning set the vision to guide education, update curriculum and strengthen the Kindergarten to
Grade 12 system. By the 2024/25 school year, an entirely new Kindergarten to Grade 12
curriculum will be taught in Alberta schools.  
 

Teachers’ Pension Plan

 

In 2021/22, government will contribute $385.4 million to the Alberta Teachers’ Retirement Fund for the current services
incurred. Alberta Treasury Board and Finance will make an additional contribution of $487.4 million for the unfunded
liabilities for the pre-1992 services. Total government contributions to the teachers’ retirement fund are $873 million for
the 2021/22 fiscal year.

 

Department Administration Budget

 

While approximately one per cent of Alberta Education’s budget supports the administration of the Department of
Education, our department is showing leadership in reducing administrative costs. This allows us to push more dollars to
school authorities to provide front-line services. These savings are being achieved by maintaining current hiring restraint



3/16/2021 New Horizons School Mail - Budget 2021

https://mail.google.com/mail/u/0?ik=bd9f062b9a&view=pt&search=all&permmsgid=msg-f%3A1692709145491363232&simpl=msg-f%3A16927091454… 3/4

practices and filling only critical vacant positions; finding operating efficiencies by reducing staff travel and other supplies
and services costs; and reducing discretionary spending through a comprehensive review of conditional grants and
contracts to ensure only urgent or unavoidable priorities are supported.

 

2021/22 Funding Profiles

 

Each school jurisdiction’s funding profile for the 2021/22 school year will be available on the Extranet by the end of March
2021. These profiles will include the aforementioned COVID-19 mitigation funding and reflect WMA enrolments based on
each jurisdiction’s enrolment projection that was provided to the department for the 2021/22 school year.

 

2021/22 Funding Manual

 

The 2021/22 Funding Manual for School Authorities will be online by the end of March.

 

2021–24 Business Plan

 

Along with Budget 2021, Alberta Education has released its 2021–24 Business Plan, which is available online.

 

The 2021–24 Business Plan plays an important role in improving the performance of the education system, as it
outlines the high-level direction for both Alberta Education and school authorities in meeting the needs of our
students. The business plan provides direction that reflects Albertans’ expectations of the education system and
the current provincial environment.

 

I would like to take this opportunity to thank you for all your dedication and hard work to ensure that all students in
Alberta receive the best education possible. Albertans can be confident that we are making thoughtful, prudent decisions
to ensure students continue to receive the education and supports that they need. I look forward to continuing our work
together throughout this school year.

 

Sincerely,

 

 

Andre Tremblay

Deputy Minister of Education

 

cc:  Secretary-Treasurers of Public, Separate, Francophone and Charter School Jurisdictions

      Communications Contacts at School Divisions

 

 

 

https://education.alberta.ca/my-content/my-applications/?searchMode=3
https://open.alberta.ca/publications/1485-5542
https://www.alberta.ca/government-and-ministry-business-plans.aspx


3/16/2021 New Horizons School Mail - Literacy program to address COVID-19 learning loss

https://mail.google.com/mail/u/0?ik=bd9f062b9a&view=pt&search=all&permmsgid=msg-f%3A1694044976839834511&simpl=msg-f%3A16940449768… 1/2

Dean Lindquist <dlindquist@newhorizons.ca>

Literacy program to address COVID-19 learning loss 

EDC Minister <Education.Minister@gov.ab.ca> Fri, Mar 12, 2021 at 9:39 AM

To:      Board Chairs and Superintendents of Public, Separate, Francophone and Charter School
Authorities

Presidents and Executive Directors of Stakeholder Associations

ACSTA (Alberta Catholic School Trustees’ Association)

AEFAA (Alberta Educational Facilities Administrators Association)

ASBA (Alberta School Boards Association)

AHA (Alberta Homeschooling Association)

AHEA (Alberta Home Education Association)

ASCA (Alberta School Councils’ Association)      

ATA (Alberta Teachers’ Association)

TAAPCS (The Association of Alberta Public Charter Schools)

ACFA (Association canadienne-francaise de l’Alberta)

AISCA (Association of Independent Schools & Colleges in Alberta)

ASBOA (Association of School Business Officials of Alberta)

CASS (College of Alberta School Superintendents)

CCSSA (Council of Catholic Superintendents of Alberta)

FPFA (Fédération des parents francophones de l’Alberta)

FCSFA (Fédération des conseils scolaires francophones de l’Alberta)

PSBAA (Public School Boards’ Association of Alberta)

 

Good morning,

 

This morning, I announced through a News Release that Alberta’s government will be working with
University of Alberta professor Dr. George Georgiou to support a program assessing reading deficits among
kindergarten to grade 3 learners. 

 

For his research and work with children’s literacy in Alberta, Dr. Georgiou was named to the College of the
Royal Society of Canada and won the Alberta Teacher’s Association educational research award in 2019.

https://www.alberta.ca/release.cfm?xID=7770987312573-A3D6-9C8C-1537318FF44D4BCF


3/16/2021 New Horizons School Mail - Literacy program to address COVID-19 learning loss

https://mail.google.com/mail/u/0?ik=bd9f062b9a&view=pt&search=all&permmsgid=msg-f%3A1694044976839834511&simpl=msg-f%3A16940449768… 2/2

 

Participation in this program will be voluntary and results will be shared with school authorities. The Letter
Name-Sound (LenS) test, and the Castles and Coltheart Test (CC3), will be used. The tests take 4-6 minutes
and can be administered by teachers. This screening tool will help identify if students have reading
difficulties and can help inform teaching in the classroom.

 

Again, this program will not be mandatory and participation by teachers and schools will be on a voluntary
basis. Alberta Education will fund the cost of substitute teachers for the purposes of administering the
assessment.

 

More information will be available to you in the coming weeks from my Deputy Minister, Andre Tremblay
as we prepare to release this program province-wide, free of costs to school authorities.

 

In addition, to help inform assessment practices in the early years (Grades 1-3), Alberta Education is
partnering with the College of Alberta School Superintendents (CASS) to engage superintendents to better
understand current assessment practices employed by school authorities.

 

This work will help inform long term planning related to student assessments.

 

Sincerely,

 

Adriana LaGrange

Minister of Education

 

cc:       Secretary Treasurers of Public, Separate, Francophone and Charter School Authorities

            Communications Contacts at School Divisions

 

 

Classifica�on: Protected A


	Board Meeting Agenda Pkg - Cover Page 2021-03-24
	Agenda NHS Board Mtg 2021-03-24
	2021-02-17 DRAFT Board Mtg Minutes
	Superintendents Report 2021-03- 24
	NHS Capital Plan 2022-25  For Presenting to Board 12-03-21
	Board Work Plan 2020-21 Approved 23-09-2020
	edc-charter-schools-handbook-2021-02
	New Horizons School Mail - Budget 2021
	New Horizons School Mail - Literacy program to address COVID-19 learning loss



